1995

# Varnell J. Dobson v. Dorothy Lynene Larson (Dobson) : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated section 78-2a-3(2)(i) (1992) as an Appeal from final Orders denying Plaintiff's Petition for Modification of a Decree of Divorce in the Third Judicial District Court.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by awarding attorney fees to Appellee when Appellee failed to put forth any evidence of the reasonableness of the amount of fees, the necessity of the number of hours dedicated, the reasonableness of the rate charged in light of the difficulty of the case and result accomplished, and the rates commonly charged in the community. This Court will reverse a trial court only if the appealing party can prove an abuse of discretion. Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1074 (Utah 1985).

2. Whether the trial court's finding that Appellant and his present wife's income is between \$68,000.00 and \$75,000.00 per year is clearly erroneous when the uncontroverted evidence showed that Appellant and his wife, driving as a team, make fourteen cents per mile (not per driver), including per diem, and have a total annual income of approximately \$58,000.00. This Court will reverse a factual finding if it is shown to be clearly erroneous under Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 52(a).



3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the parties contemplated that Appellee would seek employment at the time of divorce when Appellant presented evidence that Appellee claimed that she was physically unable to obtain employment and there was no provision in the Decree which set forth that Appellee would increase her income. This Court will reverse a factual finding if it is shown to be clearly erroneous under Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 52(a).

4. Whether the trial court erred by not finding that a substantial and material change of circumstances had occurred when Appellant presented evidence of a substantial decrease in his income to less than \$30,000.00 per year, an increase in his road expenses, an increase in Appellee's income, a decrease in Appellee's needs based on contributions by her two sons, and Appellant's inability to pay the awarded amount. The reviewing court will reverse the trial court's findings if, when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the findings, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings or that the findings are clearly erroneous. Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 88 (Utah App. 1989)(citing Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985); State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987)).

5. Whether the trial court erred by including Appellant's present wife's income in the determination that Appellant has not had a material and substantial change in circumstances when Appellee failed to put forth any law which would support an inclusion of a spouse's income to determine alimony. If a trial

court makes a determination of law, the legal decision is reviewed under a correctness standard. Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange (II), 860 P.2d 937, 939 (Utah 1993).

6. Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for new trial pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 59(a)(6) on the grounds that the evidence was insufficient to support the court's findings and that the evidence was insufficient to support an award of attorney fees when Appellant presented evidence that the trial court's findings of fact regarding Appellant's income were clearly erroneous, Appellant presented evidence that Appellee was no longer in need of alimony, and Appellant presented evidence and law which demonstrated that the award of attorney fees without carrying the evidentiary burden is clearly contrary to established Utah law. This Court can reverse a trial court's decision when viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the finding of the trial court, the evidence is insufficient to support the finding. Utah R. Civ. Pro. 52(a). In considering a trial court's decision to deny a new trial, the reviewing court will only reverse if it finds an abuse of discretion. Crookston v. Fire Ins. Exchange, 817 P.2d 789, 804-05 (Utah 1991). See also, Schindler v. Schindler, 776 P.2d 84, 90 (Utah App. 1989).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A Decree of Divorce was entered on December 31, 1989 divorcing Varnell Dobson and Dorothy Lynene Larson Dobson (Rec. 84-89)<sup>1</sup>. Varnell Dobson filed a Petition for Modification on October 5, 1993 (Rec. 110-15). A hearing on Appellant's Petition for Modification was held on October 5, 1994. (Rec. 180-81). The trial court entered an Order denying Appellant's Petition for modification of Decree of Divorce on October 20, 1994 (Rec. 184-86). The trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on October 20, 1994 which stated that the parties stipulated to the original divorce, Appellant had no material change of circumstances because he voluntarily left his past employment and he and his current wife have annual income of approximately \$75,000.00 (Rec. 185). The court further found that the parties contemplated that Lynene Larson would have to seek employment subsequent to the divorce. (Rec. 185). The court awarded Appellee attorney fees of \$850.00 (Rec. 186).

Varnell Dobson moved for a new trial pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 59(a) on October 28, 1994 (Rec. 187-88). Appellant did not request oral argument (Rec. 187-88). Appellee requested a decision on Appellant's Motion for New Trial without oral argument (Rec. 211). Appellant filed a Notice to Submit for Decision on November 2, 1994 (Rec. 218), and a Second Request for

---

<sup>1</sup> For ease of reference, citations to the Appellate Record are cited as "Rec.", citations to the Transcript of the October 5, 1994 Modification hearing are cited as "Tr.", and citations to the Transcript of the January 30, 1995 Oral Argument are cited as "2Tr.".

Decision on December 6, 1994 (Rec. 221). On December 20, 1994, the trial court set Appellant's Motion for New Trial for oral argument on January 30, 1995 (Rec. 223). Appellant filed a Supplemental Motion for New Hearing on January 16, 1995 pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60(b)(2) (Rec. 225). Appellant requested that his Rule 60(b) motion be heard at oral argument previously scheduled for January 30, 1995 (Rec. 234-35).

After a hearing on January 30, 1995, Appellant's motion for new trial was denied by the trial court (Rec. 237). On March 1, 1995, the trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law from the hearing on Appellant's Motion for New Trial finding that it was obvious to the court that Appellee would have to seek employment subsequent to the divorce, that Appellant and his current wife have annual income of between \$68,000.00 and \$75,000.00, that Appellant's current wife was only present as a driver based on Appellant's experience, that Appellant and his wife drive an average of 4,874 miles per week, 50 weeks per year, that Appellant's failure to elicit testimony from Appellee's counsel about attorney fees does not give rise to a claim for an improper award of fees, that Appellant's income of at least \$35,000.00 per year and Appellee's income of less than \$10,000.00 per year does not justify a modification of the Decree, and that the court finds Appellee's requested fees to be reasonable (Rec. 309-10). The trial court awarded Appellee further attorney fees of \$350.00 (Rec. 311).

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal with the Third District Court on February 6, 1995 (Rec. 280). Appellant filed a Motion to Stay Judgment Pending appeal on February 3, 1995 (Rec. 283). Appellant filed a cost bond on appeal on February 23, 1995 (Rec. 299). Appellant filed a supersedes bond on appeal on February 24, 1995 (Rec. 301). Appellant filed an Amended Notice of Appeal on March 15, 1995 (Rec. 327-29).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Appellant in this matter was Plaintiff below.

2. A Decree of Divorce was entered in the above-entitled matter on or about December 31, 1990 (Rec. 84-88), pursuant to a stipulation which occurred prior to October 1, 1990 and was accepted by the court on October 3, 1989 (Rec. 68). At the time the parties entered into the stipulation for the divorce, Appellee was unemployed (Rec. 10). At the time of the stipulation, Appellant believed that Appellee would not be able to work because of poor health (Tr. 72-73). Subsequent to the signing of the stipulation, but prior to the entry of the Decree, Appellee began working as a cashier for O.P. Skaggs in Preston, Idaho (Rec. 178-79).

3. The Decree required Appellant to pay Appellee \$300.00 per month as and for permanent alimony, commencing October 20, 1990 and continuing on the 20th of each month thereafter (Rec. 85). The sum of \$300.00 per month was agreed to by the parties

based upon Appellant's income at that time (Rec. 78). At the time of the Decree, Appellant had monthly gross income of \$3,776.24, and monthly net income of \$2,513.81 (Rec. 39-40). Appellant had monthly expenses of \$2,513.81 (Rec. 42). At that time, Appellant owed \$19,711.93 on his first mortgage, and \$23,935.41 on his second mortgage (Rec. 40). At that same time, Appellant owed \$11,593.11 in unsecured credit card debt exclusive of the obligation on his car (Rec. 40-41). Appellant owed \$15,862.95 on his car (Rec. 41). Appellant was ordered to assume all debt of the parties (Rec. 87-88).

4. The Decree awarded Appellee a house and property in Lewiston, Utah (Rec. 80). This property was awarded to Appellee free of any encumbrance, in that Appellant was ordered to pay the existing second mortgage which had been placed on the parties' home in Salt Lake (Rec. 80). Approximately \$15,000.00 of the funds from the second mortgage had been used to purchase the Lewiston property (Rec. 44; Tr. 56)<sup>2</sup>. Appellee was awarded two vehicles, household items, some tools, and one-half of Appellant's retirement and profit sharing plan (Rec. 81-82). Appellee was not required to assume any debt (Rec. 87-88).

5. On October 5, 1993, Appellant filed a Petition for Modification of the Decree to eliminate or reduce alimony to Appellee based on a substantial and material change of circumstances (Rec. 110-15). Appellant also alleged that

---

<sup>2</sup> Citations to the Transcript of the October 5, 1994 Modification hearing are cited as "Tr." See *supra* note 1 and accompanying text.

Appellee had failed to turn over many items of property awarded to Appellant in the Decree (Rec. 115). Appellant's income had been reduced to \$2,500.00 and his monthly expenses had increased to \$3,411.51 (Rec. 119).

6. A hearing on Appellant's Motion for Modification of Divorce Decree based upon a change of circumstances of the parties' respective financial conditions and earnings, was held on October 5, 1994 before Judge Kenneth Rigtrip (Rec. 180-81).

7. Appellant presented evidence of a decline in his wages. Appellant testified that he and his current wife drive as a team for Pride Transportation, Inc. (Tr. 46) As a team driver, each driver is paid nine and one-half cents per mile while driving and four and one-half cents per mile for per diem, for a total of fourteen cents per mile driven (Tr. 46; 60). Appellant submitted evidence (exhibits 29 and 30) that based on his year-to-date earnings at the time of the hearing, he has income of approximately \$2,500.00 per month (Tr. 64-65). Appellant testified to an increase in his monthly expenses by presenting summaries of Appellant's actual monthly expenses and evidence of debts of Appellant incurred both prior to and subsequent to the parties' divorce (Tr. 50-66). Appellant presented evidence that his monthly debt load had increased by showing a total of credit card obligations in the sum of \$21,473.85 (Tr. 66; Rec. 152). Appellant presented evidence that the amount due on the credit line (the second mortgage) was currently \$25,629.97 (Tr. 56). Plaintiff's exhibit 29 evidenced that Appellant's monthly expenses

total \$2,401.10 (Tr. 64-65). Plaintiff's exhibit 30 evidenced that Appellant and his current spouse's monthly expenses total \$4,453.99 (Tr. 65).

8. Appellant testified that he left the employ of USPCI because the company was beginning to terminate employees as part of a reduction of force (Tr. 78), that USPCI had cut or reduced employee benefits (Tr. 47; 77), that the risks of driving hazardous waste were great (Tr. 47-48), and that he had the opportunity for other employment which would provide benefits (Tr. 77-78).

9. Appellee submitted a financial declaration on May 25, 1994, declaring her monthly expenses to be \$921.80 (Rec. 146-150). Appellee testified that her monthly expenses total \$929.80 (Tr. 29). Appellee testified that she earns \$5.50 per hour at her current employment and works approximately 35 hours per week (Tr. 32; 33-34). Appellee testified that she has had her current employment since November, 1990 (Tr. 35). The trial court found that Appellee's monthly income is \$865.00 (Tr. 143). Appellee testified that her two adult sons live with her in her home (Tr. 9-10; 38), that she pays \$100.00 per month as one-third of the home mortgage payment (Tr. 9), and that she pays only one-third of the utilities and other household expenses (Tr. 9;15). Appellee testified that her only debt is to her dentist (Tr. 37; Rec. 147). Appellee testified that both her adult sons who live with her have jobs and bring home income (Tr. 38). Appellee's younger son earns approximately \$700.00 to \$800.00 per month (Tr.



43) Appellee testified that the property she lives in is purchased jointly with her elder son (Tr. 8). She also testified that the Lewiston, Utah property she received in her divorce from Appellant is unencumbered and she transferred title to one or both of her sons (Tr. 26). Appellee testified that she was not able to pay her attorney fees of \$850.00 incurred in this matter (Tr. 34).

10. Appellee testified that she pays \$100.00 per month for her mortgage (Tr. 121-22), \$18.36 per month for property taxes (Tr. 122-23), \$7.50 per month for real property insurance (Tr. 123), \$150.00 per month for food and household supplies (Tr. 124), \$34.66 per month for utilities (Tr. 124), \$10.00 per month for laundry (Tr. 124), \$25.00 per month dental (Tr. 124-25), \$34.00 per month insurance (Tr. 125), \$50.00 per month entertainment (Tr. 125), \$40.00 per month incidentals (Tr. 125), and \$50.00 per month income tax (Tr. 125). Appellee testified that based on these figures, her actual monthly expenses are \$545.52 (Tr. 126).

11. At the close of testimony, counsel for Appellee proffered that his attorney fees incurred were \$850.00 (Tr. 139-40). After counsel's proffer, the trial court asked Appellant's counsel if he had questions for Appellee's counsel regarding fees (Tr. 140). Appellant's counsel stated that he would question Appellee's counsel if he were on the stand, but that it was not his burden to put Appellee's counsel on the stand (Tr. 140). Appellant's counsel stated that he did not believe fees were

necessary or that Appellee was entitled to an award of fees (Tr. 140). Appellee's counsel did not submit evidence or testimony to support his request for fees.

12. The court made a determination that Appellant voluntarily terminated his prior employment with USPCI, which provided Appellant with an annual income of \$48,000.00. (Tr. 143). The court then determined that Appellant's current income along with the income of his present wife amounts to approximately \$75,000.00 gross per year (Tr. 144-45), and that this amount exceeds Appellant's salary at the time the Decree was entered. The court found that Appellant's monthly expenses on the road are reimbursed by his employer as a non-taxed expense allowance of \$375.00 per month (Tr. 145).

13. The court found that the parties had contemplated that Appellee would have to seek employment at the time the prior Decree was entered (Tr. 143).

14. Based upon the above evidentiary findings, the court denied Appellant's Petition finding that no material change of circumstances occurred and alimony would not be decreased or terminated (Tr. 145).

15. The court also entered judgment against Appellant for Appellee's attorney fees of \$850.00 (Tr. 145).

16. On October 28, 1994, Appellant made a Motion for New Hearing pursuant to Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 59 alleging that the ruling was against the evidence and there had been an error in law (Rec. 187-88). Included in Appellant's Motion was

an argument that Appellee failed to meet her burden of proof to support an award of attorney fees (Rec. 199-200), and that the court's finding that Appellant and his current wife had annual income of \$75,000.00 was clearly erroneous (Rec. 192-95). Appellant submitted an affidavit from Robert Oberg which set forth that truck drivers are governed by statutes of the United States which allow drivers to drive a maximum number of hours between time off duty, and a maximum number of hours during a week (Rec. 202-03). Appellant submitted an affidavit of Dan DeGrazio which set forth that Appellant is paid only \$.095 per mile along with \$.045 per mile in per diem for a total of \$.14 per mile (Rec. 204-06), and that the \$200.00 per trip advance is to be used for expenses related to Pride Transport's truck and is not for the driver's personal expenses (Rec. 205).

17. Appellee responded to Appellant's Motion (Rec. 207-08), and both parties submitted for decision without requesting oral argument (Rec. 211-12; 218-19; 221-22).

18. Oral argument was set by the court for January 30, 1995 to hear Appellant's Motion for Rehearing (Rec. 223-24). Subsequent to the setting of oral argument, Appellant filed a Utah Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60(b)(2) Motion for New Hearing based on newly discovered evidence that Appellee participated in a business with her son (Rec. 225-26). Because oral argument was already set by the court, Appellant requested that both Motions be heard at the same time (Rec. 234-36).

19. At oral argument, the trial court denied Appellant's Motion for a Rehearing but, without prior notice to Appellant that evidence would be taken, the court took testimony from Appellee's counsel regarding attorney fees (2Tr. 12-18)<sup>3</sup>. The court allowed Appellee's counsel to testify to both the original modification hearing and the oral argument (2Tr. 13). Appellee's counsel offered no exhibits to show the time he expended on the matter, that the time spent was reasonable, nor that the fee charged was reasonable to the standards in the community (2Tr. 13; 15), but did testify that he had spent the time on both matters and that his rate is \$175.00 per hour (2Tr. 14).

20. Without further evidence, the court modified his prior finding and found that Appellant's income, along with that of his present wife is at least between \$68,000.00 and \$75,000.00 (Rec. 275; 309). The court found that Appellant's present wife was not hired as a team driver because of her experience but because she is married to Appellant (Rec. 275-76; 309). The court then found that more than half of the income of the couple can be attributed to Appellant (Rec. 276; 309).

21. The court found that Appellant's counsel had ample opportunity to "grill" Appellee's counsel regarding fees (Rec. 277). The court determined that \$300.00 per month for alimony, given that it is tax deductible, is conservative and there was no basis for modification (Rec. 276-77). The court denied

---

<sup>3</sup> Citations to the Transcript of the January 30, 1995 Oral Argument are cited as "2Tr." See *supra* note 1 and accompanying text.

Appellant's Rule 60(b) motion and denied Appellant's Motion for New Hearing (Rec. 277; 311). The court then awarded additional attorney fees to Appellee in the amount of \$350.00 for time spent defending Appellant's Motion for Rehearing (Rec. 277; 311).

#### **DETERMINATIVE LAW**

1. It is incumbent on the party requesting attorney fees to demonstrate the necessity of the number of hours dedicated to the matter, the reasonableness of the rate charged, the complexity of the case and the result accomplished, and the rates commonly charged for divorce actions in the community. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Utah 1987). (citing Beals v. Beals, 682 P.2d 862, 864 (Utah 1984); Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384-85 (Utah 1980)); accord Delatore v. Delatore, 680 P.2d 27, 28 (Utah 1984).

2. A factual finding is clearly erroneous if a reviewing court will be firmly convinced that a mistake has been made. State v. Walker, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987).

3. In order to support an award of alimony, the court must examine the receiving spouse's financial conditions and need, the receiving spouse's ability to earn adequate income and contribute to her own needs, and the providing spouse's ability to provide support. Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985).

4. For a modification of a decree, there must be a showing of a substantial change of circumstances occurring since the entry of the decree which was not contemplated in the decree itself.

Moore v. Moore, 872 P.2d 1054, 1055 (Utah Ct. App. 1994); Durfee v. Durfee, 796 P.2d 713, 716 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in awarding Appellee attorney fees in the sum of \$850.00 for the modification hearing because Appellee failed to carry her burden to show that the rate charged was reasonable and that the hours spent were necessary. Appellee's failure to put on any evidence or testimony as to the necessity or reasonableness of the fees requires that the award of fees be stricken. The burden to prove the reasonableness and necessity of fees is on the party seeking the fees. Appellant does not have the burden to show that the fees requested are unreasonable if the party seeking fees has not shown that the fees are reasonable.

The trial court erred by awarding fees to Appellee at oral argument on Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial. Appellant set forth that the court had erred by awarding fees at the modification hearing because Appellee had failed to carry her burden of proof. At oral argument, the trial court apparently agreed with Appellant because the court swore in Appellee's counsel and had him testify as to both the modification hearing and oral argument. The trial court then awarded fees to Appellee. The award was in error because Appellant's motion was correct and the award of fees against Appellant was an abuse of discretion. Appellee again failed to carry her burden to support an award of fees at oral argument. Counsel testified as to the time he spent, but

submitted no evidence to support his testimony although he testified that he keeps written records. Appellee did not testify as to her ability to pay fees.

The finding that Appellant and his current wife have annual income of \$75,000.00 is clearly erroneous. Evidence submitted by Appellant establishes, and it is undisputed, that Appellant is paid \$.14 per mile driven which includes a \$.045 per diem. Appellant and his current wife drive as a team, and each is paid \$.14 per mile when driving. Appellant's income is the amount of miles he drives multiplied by \$.14. The trial court's conclusion that Appellant and his current spouse earn \$75,000.00 per year is clearly erroneous in that Appellant and his spouse would be required to drive more than 60 miles per hour, 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 52 weeks per year to earn \$75,000.00.

The trial court erred by adding the expense reimbursement column to Appellant's gross income but failing to deduct the advances. At the beginning of each trip, Appellant is advanced \$200.00 to cover expenses involving the truck. At the end of the trip, Appellant submits receipts for funds actually expended. The advance is then deducted from his check. The trial court erred by concluding that the \$200.00 was an advance to cover Appellant's personal expenses while on the road.

The trial court erred when it modified its previous findings at oral argument without granting Appellant's motion for new trial. The trial court modified its previous findings, but made no evidentiary findings to support the modification. The court

again erred in its new findings that Appellant and his current wife have income of between \$68,000.00 and \$75,000.00 per year.

The trial court erred by finding that the parties contemplated that Appellee would seek employment at the time of the divorce. The Decree does not state that the parties contemplated that Appellee would increase her earnings. There was no evidence presented to the trial court that the parties actually contemplated that she would seek further employment, and Appellant testified that it was his understanding at that time that Appellee would not be able to work because of health problems. The increase is not contemplated within the Decree and it was error for the court to so find.

The increase in Appellee's income from almost nothing to \$865.00 per month constitutes a material change of circumstances and it was error for the court to fail to make an analysis of the factors requiring alimony. The trial court's failure to consider the substantial and material change of circumstances was clearly erroneous and requires reversal.

The trial court failed to consider the factors supporting an award of alimony of determining the need of the receiving spouse, the ability of the paying spouse to pay, and the ability of the receiving spouse to provide for her own needs. The trial court erred by not finding that Appellant no longer has the ability to pay alimony, that Appellee no longer has the need for alimony, and Appellee is able to support herself. Based on those factors, it was error for the trial court to fail to modify the Decree.



Finally, it was error for the trial court to consider Appellant's spouse's income in the determination of Appellant's ability to pay. Appellant's spouse does not have a legal obligation to pay alimony to the Appellee. The trial court took into account the income of Appellant's wife, but failed to take into consideration her expenses. Appellant and his wife do not have the ability to pay alimony to Appellee. The trial court erred by considering the income but not the total expenses.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES WITHOUT TESTIMONY OR EVIDENCE IS CLEARLY CONTRARY TO ESTABLISHED UTAH LAW**

##### **A. Appellee failed to present any evidence to support an award of attorney fees**

This Court should strike the trial court's award of attorney fees to Appellee because the granting of attorney fees absent any evidence or testimony is clearly against established law. Newmeyer v. Newmeyer, 745 P.2d 1276 (Utah 1987). It is incumbent on the party requesting attorney fees to demonstrate the necessity of the number of hours dedicated to the matter, the reasonableness of the rate charged, the complexity of the case and the result accomplished, and the rates commonly charged for divorce actions in the community. *Id.* at 1279 (citing Beals v. Beals, 682 P.2d at 864; Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1384-85 (Utah 1980)); accord Delatore v. Delatore, 680 P.2d 27, 28 (Utah 1984). Factors to be

considered for the reasonableness of fees include the time and labor required, the novelty of the issue, the skill required, the likelihood that the lawyer will not be able to accept other employment, the fee customarily charged in the locality, the amount involved, the result obtained, the time limitation imposed by the client, the nature and length of the professional relationship, and the experience of the lawyer. Code of Judicial Administration, Rule 1.5(a)(1)-(8). Appellee presented no evidence or testimony to support an award of attorney fees and as such, the award should be stricken.

This Court can reverse an award of attorney fees and costs when either financial need or reasonableness has not been shown. Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421, 426 (Utah Ct. App. 1990); Munns v. Munns, 790 P.2d 116, 122 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). Appellee failed to show the reasonableness of the awarded fees. At the close of testimony, Appellee's counsel proffered that his fees totaled \$850.00 and that was his request. Appellee presented no evidence of the reasonableness of his rate, the necessity of the number of hours, or in fact even the actual number of hours expended, nor the rates commonly charged in the community. Appellee's counsel did not testify. There was no offer of any proof as to the award of fees. In Newmeyer, the Utah Supreme Court held that unless the party seeking attorney fees carries her burden to establish the proper evidentiary basis for the award, it is clear error to award fees. Id. at 1280. Additionally, the Utah Supreme Court in Delatore, 680 P.2d at 28-29, set forth that an award of fees

without evidence or testimony would be stricken. Appellee failed to establish that the fees were reasonable in light of the time spent and the necessity thereof. Appellee did not present any testimony or evidence as to the necessity of the fees or the reasonableness thereof. See Newmeyer, 745 P.2d at 1279. Therefore, because Appellee failed to carry her burden to support an award of fees, the award of attorney fees to Appellee was clearly an abuse of discretion and should be stricken.

Appellant does not have the burden to show that Appellee's requested fees are unreasonable and the trial court's imposition of that burden is clearly error. Appellee's counsel proffered his fees. The court asked Appellant's counsel if he had any questions. Appellant's counsel stated that if Appellee's counsel were on the stand, he would cross examine him. Appellee's counsel did not take the stand. Appellee has set forth that Appellant's failure to show that the fees were unreasonable by not calling Appellee's counsel to the stand carries Appellee's burden. The Utah Supreme Court set forth that the party opposing fees does not have the burden at trial to challenge the award when no evidence was presented on the subject. Delatore, 680 P.2d at 29. Appellant did not have the burden to show that the requested fees were unreasonable because Appellee did not present any evidence that the fees were reasonable. The trial court's imposition of the burden onto Appellant was clearly error and cannot be used to support the award of fees.

**B. There is no factual basis to support an award of additional attorney fees and those fees are not reasonable**

**1. Appellant's Motion for New Hearing was legally and factually correct**

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