1995

# Varnell J. Dobson v. Dorothy Lynene Larson (Dobson) : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Appellant has failed to demonstrate a material and substantial change of circumstances upon which a Modification of Decree of Divorce could be based. The determination of income is based upon Appellant's testimony and there are good and sufficient grounds for the Findings of Fact made by the Court. The award of attorney's fees was based upon proffer which was never challenged by Appellant and is a proper basis for the award of attorney's fees to Appellant.

#### **ARGUMENT**

##### **I. Whether The Award of Attorney's Fees Was Based Upon Proper Evidence.**

The proffer of evidence or testimony when accepted by the opposing party was accepted by the Court as though the same were given under oath and subject to cross-examination. (Tr. p. 310.) In the present case, Appellant accepted the proffer, waived any right to cross-examination, entered no evidence of his own and the Court entered its Order based upon that proffer. (Tr. p. 310.)

The Court properly exercised its discretion in awarding attorney's fees to Appellee making appropriate findings that the attorney's fees were reasonable, that Appellant had need of assistance to pay those fees and that Appellant had the ability to pay the fees awarded. (Tr. p. 310.)

**II. Whether The Findings As to Appellant's Income Are Appropriate.**

Appellant voluntarily changed his employment. The voluntary incurring of debt, change of employment or voluntary decrease in income is not a basis for a finding of substantial change of circumstances. *Auerbach v. Auerbach*, 571 P.2d 1349 (Utah, 1977).

The Court found Appellant's income had not substantially changed nor had appellant substantially changed his own standard of living. Considering the portion of his wife's income was applicable to him, his income was substantially the same as in 1990. Finding that there was not a substantial change of circumstances, the Court denied the Petition to Modify Decree of Divorce.

Appellant must demonstrate that Facts are clearly erroneous by marshalling all evidence supporting the findings and then demonstrating that the findings are not supported by legally sufficient evidence. *Campbell v. Campbell*, 896 P.2d 635 (Utah App. 1995); Rules of Civ. Proc. Rule 52(a). Appellant has failed

to demonstrate any facts that would demonstrate that there was a substantial change of circumstances as to Appellant's income.

**III. Whether The Parties Anticipated Appellee's Employment.**

At the time of Hearing for Decree, Appellee was anticipating employment. At the time the Decree was entered Appellee was employed part-time. The parties knew that she would have to be employed if she was going to survive. Alimony of \$300 per month as agreed would not sustain Appellee at the lifestyle she enjoyed during marriage. Appellee's income has only increased by a small amount since the time the Decree was entered and has not reached any level that would indicate a change of circumstances not anticipated by the parties. The Court of Appeals, in *Moore v. Moore*, 872 P.2d 1054 (Utah App. 1994), held that a former wife's stable income was not a change in circumstances justifying a modification of alimony where the parties expected at the time of decree that the wife would continue to work.

The change of value of property, the acquiring of a home, assistance from Appellee's children does not alter nor change the circumstances anticipated by the parties at the Decree of Divorce. (Tr. pp. 276-277.) Appellant would be required to show a decrease in his own standard of living or an increase in Appellee's standard of living from that enjoyed during marriage.

*Wells v. Wells*, 871 P.2d 36 (Utah App. 1994). Appellant fails to demonstrate any change in the standard of living of either party.

**IV. Whether Appellee Should Continue To Receive Alimony.**

In order for this Court to find a proper basis to decrease or terminate alimony, the Court must find, first, that there is a substantial change of circumstances and, second, that the change of circumstances was not anticipated by the parties at the time of the Decree of Divorce. *Moore v. Moore*, 872 P.2d 1054 (Utah, 1994); *Cox v. Cox*, 877 P.2d 1262 (Utah, 1994); and *Wells v. Wells*, 871 P.2d 1036 (Utah, 1994); *Larsen v. Larsen*, 888 P.2d 719 (Utah App. 1994).

It is only after the Court finds a substantial change of circumstances and that that change was not anticipated at the time of the decree that the Court may consider the financial condition and the financial needs of the parties involved.

This Court has held "We will not disturb a trial court's ruling on alimony as long as the court exercises its discretion within the bounds and under the standards we have set and has supported its decision with adequate findings and conclusions." *Bell v. Bell*, 810 P.2d 489 (Utah App. 1991) (quoting *Naranjo v. Naranjo*, 75 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah App. 1988)). The same standard for review as to an award of attorney's fees was approved in *Udy v. Udy*, 893 P.2d 1097 (Utah App. 1995).

**V. Whether Appellant's Wife's Income Was Properly Considered.**

The Court found that appellant's wife's income as a team long-haul driver with him was at least in part based upon Appellant's experience and expertise.

In addition, the Court found that payment of expenses and per diem were in part income to Appellant.

The facts being clearly substantiated, the Court did not erroneously apply those facts to the circumstances of Appellant's income imputing a portion of his wife's income to Appellant.

QUESTION [to Appellant]: And is it to your benefit to have your wife as a team member as opposed to some third party?

ANSWER: Yes it is.

QUESTION: Is it to your financial benefit for the two of you to keep the truck going 24 hours a day if you can?

ANSWER: Yes.

(Tr. pp. 478-479.)

**VI. Whether Appellant Has The Ability To Pay Alimony.**

At the time of divorce, Appellant stipulated and agreed to pay alimony of \$300 per month. The Court found that amount to be very conservative based upon the disparate income of the parties and well within the ability of Appellant to pay based upon his annual income of \$36,000 plus an amount imparted from

his wife's income which income together reached a level of \$75,000 per year.

An award of alimony should be reversed only if it represents clear and prejudicial absence of discretion. *Crompton v. Crompton*, 888 P.2d 686 (Utah App. 1994).

**VII. Award Of Attorney's Fees On Appeal.**

Generally, when the trial court awards attorneys' fees in a divorce action to a party who then prevails on appeal, that party will also be entitled to an award of attorneys' fees on appeal. Utah Code Ann. 1953 30-3-3; *Larsen v. Larsen*, 888 P.2d 719 (Utah App. 1994).

**CONCLUSION**

Appeal should be dismissed as to every issue and Appellee should be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred as awarded in the proceedings below